RECEIVED

COURT OF APPEALS OF WISC 19-07-2019

DISTRICT 2

CLERK OF COURT OF APPEALS OF WISCONSIN

TOWN OF WATERFORD,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

vs.

Appeal No.: 2019AP000737

Circuit Court:

2018CV000828 CHRISTOPHER PYE,

Defendant-Appellant.

DEFENDANT-APPELLANT'S BRIEF

ON NOTICE OF APPEAL FROM CIVIL JUDGMENT ENTERED ON FEBRUARY 28, 2019 IN RACINE COUNTY CIRCUIT COURT, BRANCH 10 THE HONORABLE TIMOTHY D. BOYLE, PRESIDING

> William R. Kerner Attorney for the Defendant-Appellant 6525 W. Blue Mound Road Milwaukee, WI 53213 (414) 258-5989 State Bar No.: 1005739

Case 2019AP000737 Brief of Appellant Filed 10-07-2019 Page 2 of 22

ISSUES PRESENTED

1. Was the Citation of the Town of Waterford

(hereinafter "Respondent or "the Town") alleging

that the Christopher Pye (Hereinafter "Appellant" or

"Pye") committed a violation of the Town's municipal

ordinances adopting Sec. 346.63(1) Wis. Stats.

barred by the Statute of Limitations, which is Sec.

893.93(2)(b) Wis. Stats.?

The trial court answered this question, "No".

2. Could the Town avoid the apparent terms of the Statute of Limitations under the doctrine of "Equitable Tolling"? The trial court answered this question, "Yes".

STATEMENT ON ORAL ARGUMENT AND PUBLICATION

The Defendant-Appellant does not believe that there is any need for oral argument in this case as the issues can be adequately addressed in the briefs of the parties.

Generally, an appeal of a judgment of this nature is addressed to one judge of the Court of Appeals, and is therefore not published.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The facts are not in dispute (R4: 1-2) (R6: 1). On June 24, 2014, Mr. Pye was allegedly involved in a traffic accident in which he was alleged to be driving a vehicle that struck and injured a pedestrian. Officer W. Jeschke of the Town of Waterford Police Department issued Mr. Pye three citations, W026710-5 (State of Wisconsin vs. Christopher Pye--OWI 1st Causing Injury), W026773-5 (State of Wisconsin vs. Christopher Pye--Prohibited Alcohol Concentration) and W026743-3 (Town of Waterford vs. Christopher Pye-Inattentive Driving).

The first two citations were **never** municipal citations for ordinance violations, but rather were citations giving

the defendant notice to appear in Racine County Circuit

Court to answer for criminal charges that were anticipated
to be issued by the district attorney. Criminal charges
were, in fact, issued by the Racine County District

Attorney in Racine County Circuit Court cases 14 CT 727 and
15 CF 428. Eventually, all state charges were dismissed,
because they were mistakenly issued by Officer Jeschke as
crimes and the Racine County District Attorney (through
various assistant district attorneys, but hereinafter
collectively referred to as "the District Attorney")
erroneously charged the offenses as crimes.

These actions of Officer Jeschke and the District Attorney are accurately called "mistakes" or "errors" because on June 24, 2014, the crime of "Causing Injury by Intoxicated Operation of a Motor Vehicle", a violation of Sec. 346.63(6) required as an element that the injured victim sustain "Substantial Bodily Harm" as defined under Sec. 939.22(38). In 2014 this requirement was a relatively recent addition to the law, and it did not last long. Shortly afterward that legislature modified Sec. 346.63(6) again to remove "Substantial Bodily Harm" as an element of that crime. There were other legal issues litigated in Mr. Pye's criminal cases, but then the issue of the extent of the victim's injuries was raised for the first time in

2016. The Racine County Circuit Court then having jurisdiction over Racine County Circuit Court Case No. 15 CF 428 dismissed the Criminal Complaint and Information in that case. The dismissal occurred on June 13, 2016, while there was still time, although only eleven days, for the Town to issue new citations. Even though the criminal charges were dismissed at this point, Officer Jeshke did not learn of this until some time in October of 2016. But no new citations were issued until November 19, 2016. Two of the new citations alleged violations of ordinances adopting 346.63(1) Wis. Stats., and the third alleged Reckless Driving.

The citations were originally litigated in the Town of Waterford Municipal Court, in which all three were challenged in on the ground that the Statute of limitation had run prior to them being issued. The Municipal Court dismissed the Reckless Driving citation on Mr. Pye's motion, but denied the motion to dismiss on the other two citations (OWI 1st Offense and PAC 1st Offense) having agreed with the Town's argument on the doctrine of "Equitable Tolling". There was a trial to the court in the Municipal Court, and the Appellant was convicted.

Having been convicted in Municipal Court, Mr. Pye appealed to the Racine County Circuit Court, and again

Case 2019AP000737 Brief of Appellant Filed 10-07-2019 Page 8 of 22

raised the issue of the Statute of Limitations by filing a Motion to Dismiss. The Town filed a written objection to Mr. Pye's Motion to Dismiss, and Mr. Pye filed a written Rebuttal. Effectively, the issue of the Statute of Limitations was re-litigated by the circuit court, which heard oral arguments on April 4, 2018, and rendered an oral decision on that same day denying Mr. Pye's Motion to Dismiss(R16). The parties thereafter prepared for trial, but prior to trial they entered into a stipulation allowing the Circuit Court to convict Mr. Pye on the agreed upon facts, but preserving his right to appeal to this court on the issue of the Statute of Limitations (R14, R15). Mr. Pye appeals.

ARGUMENT

I. The citations issued November 19, 2016 are barred by the Statute of Limitations

Not surprisingly, there is not a lot of case law on the statute of limitations for Municipal Citations, but there is the unpublished opinion of *City of Waukesha vs. Murphy*, 338 Wis.2d 211 (Ct. App. 2011). Because the *Murphy* case was decided after July 1, 2009, it may be cited for persuasive, but not precedential, authority.

The Murphy case has some similarities to the cases at

bar, but also has significant differences. Most important from the Appellant's perspective is that the *Murphy* case recognized that Sec. 893.93(2)(b) Stats. is, in fact, a Statute of Limitations that bars the commencement of an action to enforce a town ordinance after two years have passed since the cause of action accrues. Which is to say that when an offense is allegedly committed on June 24, 2014, citations issued after June 24, 2016 are barred.

Where the Murphy case is distinguishable from this case is that in the Murphy case the City charged Mr. Murphy with an ordinance violation prior to the expiration of the two year period, and then dismissed the citations without prejudice when it was discovered that Mr. Murphy had a refusal finding that should have counted as a first offense. So, the Municipal Court dismissed its citations against Mr. Murphy until he succeeded in reopening his old refusal case. At that point, the City moved to reopen its cases against Mr. Murphy under Sec. 806.07 Wis. Stats., which allows for the reopening of civil judgments at the court's discretion for equitable reasons.

The court of appeals reasoned that the City "commenced" an action against Mr. Murphy when it issued its original citations returnable to the City of Waukesha Municipal Court. And that even though those citations had been

dismissed, the Municipal Court had the discretion to entertain a motion to reopen them under Sec. 806.07. The Murphy Court stated: "...the City commenced its action against Murphy by issuing citations well within the statute of limitations period—on the same day that the cause of action accrued. The City did not issue new citations after the statute of limitations had run; it requested that the existing citations, which had been previously dismissed, be reopened."

However, for the citations in this case, the Town did not commence its actions back at the time the cause of action accrued (choosing, rather, to use the citation form as a notice to the defendant to appear to answer criminal charges in Circuit Court), and the Town did issue its only Municipal citations alleging OWI First Offense after the statute of limitations had run. There are not, and have never been, any actions commenced in Municipal Court regarding this event alleging violations of Sec. 346.63(1). There were never any other previously filed citations to reopen. Therefore, according to the clear language of Sec. 893.93(2)(b), and the reasoning of City of Waukesha vs. Murphy, id., the Town cannot lawfully commence new actions against Mr. Pye after the statute of limitations has run. The Municipal Court should have dismissed the citations

before it, and on de novo review, the Circuit Court should have done so.

II. The violation of the Statute of Limitations cannot be cured by the doctrine of Equitable Tolling.

In the courts below, that Town has argued that the failure to charge the Appellant within the time set forth in the Statute of Limitations can be cured by the doctrine of Equitable Tolling. The Appellant responds that the Town's reliance on the doctrine of Equitable Tolling is misplaced. The cases cited by the Town, themselves, do not support the relief the Town seeks. For example, in the courts below the Town cited the concurrence of Justice Ziegler in State vs. Zimbal. 2017 WI 59, Slip opinion at p.65. However, that was a case wherein a criminal defendant had sought to file a Request for Substitution of Judge outside the twenty day time limit, after having been specifically directed by the court not to do so until counsel was appointed for him. Noting that there should be equitable tolling because the defendant should not be penalized for merely obeying the court's order, Justice Ziegler went on to say: "Clearly, these are unique facts. Indeed, litigants should be hesitant to cite this case as authority in the future in circumstances not identical to

what occurred here." Since the circumstances are not identical to this case, such hesitance is warranted. The Town also relies on Menomonee Indian Tribe of Wisconsin vs. United States. 136 S. Ct. 750, 755, (2016). In that case Justice Alito writes, "We reaffirm that the second prong of the equitable tolling test is met only where the circumstances that caused the litigant's delay are both extraordinary and beyond its control" (emphasis in the original). And therein lies the Town's insurmountable problem. The decision to charge the defendant was entirely within the Town's control. The Town simply made a mistake of law as to whether the defendant could be charged with Causing Injury by Intoxicated use of a Motor Vehicle. And although it would be outside the common practice in cases like this one, the defendant knows of no legal bar that would have prevented the Town from charging these charges in municipal court simultaneously with the State charge. But, the Appellant believes that the first point is compelling. If, as Town now believes, the wrong charge was filed in the first instance, then it would have been within the Town's control to file the correct charge. The Town simply cannot claim that its own mistake in charging was outside its control.

Case 2019AP000737 Brief of Appellant Filed 10-07-2019 Page 13 of 22

The Appellant's argument on this point is grounded in the legal procedure for enforcement of non-criminal traffic offenses as established by the Wisconsin Legislature. The Town has argued that its attorneys had no knowledge of the issuance of the erroneous charging decision, and that its officer was not qualified to make the determination as to what statute had been violated, and therefore the delay was not the Town's fault. However, the commencement of a traffic forfeiture action does not originate in the office of an attorney for a municipality.

All non-criminal traffic offences are commenced by the issuance of a Uniform Traffic Citation under Sec. 345.11 Wis. Stats. Specific subsections of this statue are set forth below:

345.11

- "1) On and after July 1, 1969, the uniform traffic citation created by this section shall in the case of moving traffic violations and may in the case of parking violations and all violations of ch. $\underline{194}$ be used by all law enforcement agencies in this state which are authorized to enforce the state traffic laws and any local traffic laws enacted by any local authority in accordance with s. $\underline{349.06}$."
- "(5) Notwithstanding any other provision of the statutes, the use of the uniform traffic citation promulgated under sub. (4) by any peace officer in connection with the enforcement of any state traffic laws, any local traffic ordinances in strict conformity with the state traffic laws or s. 218.0114 (1) or 218.205 (1) shall be deemed adequate process to give the appropriate court jurisdiction over the

person upon the filing with or transmitting to the court of the uniform traffic citation."

Under the Wisconsin Administrative Code TRANS 114.08, the Secretary of the Department of Transportation has created the Uniform Traffic Citation handwritten and electronic versions, and they are exactly what the statute requires them to be: the charging documents that initiate an action to prosecute individuals for alleged non-criminal violations of state traffic laws, or county or municipal ordinances in conformity therewith.

When an individual is alleged by a traffic officer to have violated a non-criminal traffic law or ordinance, the official who drafts the charging document is the traffic officer him/herself. And it is unquestionable that the charging document, the document that initiates the action, is the Uniform Traffic Citation. The citation identifies the parties, it advises the defendant with a brief description of the charge, as well as citing the statute number (or conforming ordinance) alleged to be violated. It advises the defendant of the time and place of the alleged violation. It advises the defendant of the court before which his/her case will be heard, and the time and place of the initial appearance, by which the defendant must respond in writing or appear in person. The Uniform Traffic does

everything necessary to be what Sec. 345.11(5) requires it to be, that is: "adequate process to give the appropriate court jurisdiction over the person upon the filing with or transmitting to the court of the uniform traffic citation."

This is where the Town's argument that it, and its traffic officer, are not qualified to determine what offense should be charged fails. Under Sec. 345.11, the traffic officer is the charging official who drafts the charging document. Therefore, the traffic officer is expected by the legislature to know what the traffic code is and to be able to draft and file the charging document when the traffic laws are violated. The Town cannot be allowed to claim that its officer, whom Sec.345.11 specifically empowers to charge traffic offenses, is not qualified to do exactly that which the legislature empowers and requires him to do.

This takes the officer's error completely outside the second prong of the definition of Equitable Tolling, that is, that the circumstances that caused the litigant's delay must be both extraordinary and beyond its control. Not only was correct drafting of the charging document completely within Officer Jeschke's control, that control was specifically given to him by the Wisconsin Legislature when it drafted Sec. 345.11. As the acts and decisions

necessary to correctly draft the charging document (Uniform Traffic Citation) in the first instance were completely within the control of the Town official statutorily authorized to do so (Officer Jeschke), the Town cannot now invoke "Equitable Tolling" which requires that the lateness was beyond the Town's control.

That Officer Jeschke's mistake may have been made in good faith is of no help to the Town. Most mistakes that violate a Statute of limitations may have made in good faith. For Equitable Tolling, the Officer must not have been the one to have made the mistake at all. But issuing the Uniform Traffic Citation correctly was within Officer Jeschke's control. He simply made a mistake and failed to do so.

And the Town's argument that the Town, in the person of Officer Jeschke or otherwise, had no ability to monitor the progress of the Circuit Court action does not ring true.

This is the age of CCAP, and monitoring the progress of Circuit Court cases has never been easier. Had the Town wanted to monitor how the Circuit Court cases involving its officers were proceeding, a matter of minutes at a computer terminal on a periodic basis could have kept the Town informed of the progress of the Appellant's cases in Circuit Court, and forewarned the Town that these had been

dismissed before the Statute of Limitations had run out.

But, as will be seen below, the pendency of the Circuit

Court cases had no legal effect on the Town's ability to

file a traffic citation in Municipal Court for OWI First

Offense.

In the court below, the Town raised that issue (R6: 3), although neither party developed it very well; but it was addressed and therefore should be considered by this court. The Town argued (R6: 3) (R16: 6-7)that the pendency of the criminal charges in the Circuit Court prevented the Town, in the person of Officer Jeschke, from filing a citation in the Municipal Court alleging OWI, First Offense, and that the Statute of Limitations should have been tolled during that time. The Appellant did object to this assertion and argued that the Town could have charged the Appellant in Municipal Court, notwithstanding the pending criminal charges (R8: 2)(R16: 7-8). The Circuit Court, in its oral decision, seemed to agree with the Town R16: 8-10).

The problem is, that the Town's line of argument contradicts the reasoning of the Wisconsin Supreme Court in State v. Thierfelder, 495 N.W.2d 669, 174 Wis.2d 213 (Wis., 1993). The Appellant understands that sending a defendant to either the Circuit Court or Municipal Court is the policy and practice in most Wisconsin jurisdictions. Never

the less, Thierfelder is right on point. Simultaneous prosecutions for OWI, First Offense in Municipal Court and Causing Injury by Intoxicated Use of a Motor Vehicle are perfectly permissible, and are not barred by the Fifth Amendment prohibition against double jeopardy, nor by Sec. 345.52(1) Wis. Stats., which prohibits double prosecutions for identical ordinances. This is because, first, a traffic forfeiture action in Municipal Court does not impose criminal penalties, and second, OWI First Offense and Causing Injury by Intoxicated Use of a Motor Vehicle are not identical, Id.

Officer Jeschke could have lawfully filed a Uniform

Traffic Citation alleging OWI First Offense in Municipal

Court at any time between June 24, 2014 and June 24, 2016,

but he did not.

CONCLUSION

For the foregoing reasons, the Court of Appeals should reverse the decision of the court below and remand this matter with directions to dismiss the citations against the Respondent, as they were and are barred by the Statute of Limitations, Sec. 893.93(2)(b) Wis. Stats.

Filed 10-07-2019

Date October 1, 2019