Case 2019AP000737 Brief of Respondent Filed 11-05-2019 Page 1 of 17

RECEIVED

COURT OF APPEALS OF WISCONSID5-2019

DISTRICT 2

CLERK OF COURT OF APPEALS OF WISCONSIN

TOWN OF WATERFORD,

Plaintiff - Respondent

vs. Appeal No: 2019AP000737

Circuit Court: 2018CV000828

CHRISTOPHER PYE,

Defendant - Appellant

PLAINTIFF - RESPONDENT'S BRIEF

APPEAL FROM CIVIL JUDGMENT ENTERED FEBRUARY 28, 2019
IN RACINE COUNTY CIRCUIT COURT, BRANCH 10
THE HONORABLE TIMOTHY D. BOYLE, PRESIDING

ISSUE PRESENTED

Can the Citation issued by the Town of Waterford (hereinafter "Respondent" or the "Town") to Christopher Pye (hereinafter "Appellant") for violation of the Town's municipal ordinances adopting Wis. Stat. § 346.63(1) after the time period established by Wis. Stat. § 893.93(2)(b) be cured by the doctrine of "Equitable Tolling?"

The trial court answered this question, "Yes."

STATEMENT ON ORAL ARGUMENT AND PUBLICATION

Respondent agrees with Appellant that there does not appear to be any need for oral argument in this case as the issues can be addressed by the parties' briefs. Respondent further agrees that this type of appeal is generally addressed to one judge of the Court of Appeals and is not published.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Appellant's brief accurately states the history of this case and Respondent will not restate it aside from a few brief clarifications. This matter stems from a traffic accident that caused injury to a pedestrian. As a result of the incident, Officer William Jeschke of the Town of Waterford Police Department issued three citations:

W026710-5 (OWI 1st Causing Injury), W022773-5 (Prohibited Alcohol Concentration), and W026743-3 (Inattentive Driving). The citation for Inattentive Driving was solely a municipal citation, but the other two citations led to criminal charges being issued by the Racine County District Attorney in Circuit Court cases 14CT727 and 15CF428.

Appellant's brief correctly notes that, at the time, the resulting criminal charge of "Causing Injury by Intoxicated Operation of a Motor Vehicle," a violation of Wis. Stat. § 346.63(6), required that the injured victim sustain "Substantial Bodily Harm" as defined under Wis. Stat. § 939.22(38). The criminal charges were ultimately dismissed as the injuries to the pedestrian did not apparently rise to the requisite level for the prosecution to prove its case in circuit court. The dismissal occurred on June 13, 2016, which was only eleven days prior to the expiration of two years following the traffic incident.

The Town was not informed by the Racine County District
Attorney's Office of the dismissal. Officer Jeschke did
not learn of the dismissal until sometime in October 2016,
and municipal citations regarding the incident were
subsequently issued November 19, 2016.

ARGUMENT

The Town's violation of the Statute of Limitations may be cured by the doctrine of Equitable Tolling.

There is a relative lack of caselaw on the issue of the statute of limitations with respect to the issuance of municipal citations. The Appellant's brief does cite a case in which an OWI citation was issued within the statutory time period but later dismissed without prejudice. The Court of Appeals in City of Waukesha vs.

Murphy, 2012 WI App 1, 338 Wis. 2d 211 (Ct. App. 2011) held that the City's motion to reopen its case against Murphy was not barred by the two year statute of limitations despite being more than two years after the alleged violations and issuance of the original citations. This case is factually inapposite to the instant matter.

In the current matter, no municipal citations were issued until after the time limit set by Wis. Stat. § 893.93(2)(b) had run. As mentioned above, the reason that municipal citations were not issued was due to the fact

that there were criminal charges issued and pending that stemmed from the same incident. The Town was not informed of or aware of the dismissal of the criminal charges until after the expiration of the two year statutory period and the Town promptly issued the municipal citations upon learning of the dismissal.

While there is very little caselaw regarding the statute of limitations on municipal ordinance violations, the doctrine of equitable tolling of a statutory time period is well-developed in Wisconsin cases. In a recent Wisconsin Supreme Court case, State v. Zimbal, 2017 WI 59, 375 Wis. 2d 643, 896 N.W.2d 327, Chief Justice Roggensack provided a description of the doctrine of equitable tolling. "Equitable tolling is a remedy that permits a court to allow an action to proceed when justice requires it, even though a statutory time period has elapsed." Zimbal, at 65. Chief Justice Roggensack further states that "[e]quitable tolling focuses on whether there was excusable delay by the plaintiff." Id. At 65. The United States Supreme Court, in a unanimous decision in a case arising out of Wisconsin, provided further clarification on the doctrine of equitable tolling. The United States Supreme Court, quoting Holland v. Florida, 560 U.S. 631, 649, 130 S. Ct. 2549, 177 L. Ed. 2d 130 (2010) held that:

[A] litigant is entitled to equitable tolling of a statute of limitations only if the litigant establishes two elements: "(1) that he has been pursuing his rights diligently, and (2) that some extraordinary circumstance stood in his way and prevented timely filing." Menominee Indian Tribe v. United States, 136 S. Ct. 750, 755, 193 L. Ed 2d 652 (2016).

In the instant case, the Town issued the original citations that led to the criminal charges shortly after the incident occurred. Once referred out to the Racine County District Attorney, the Town had essentially no role in the pursuit of criminal charges at the county level. As is the common policy and practice, the Town deferred issuing its own municipal citations due to the pending criminal charges arising from the exact same traffic accident. Once the Town learned that the criminal charges were dismissed, the Town acted promptly in issuing municipal citations.

The facts in this matter certainly support Chief

Justice Roggensack's description of when equitable tolling
of a statute of limitations is appropriate. The only
reasons for the delay by the Town were due to the dismissal
of the criminal charges by the Racine County District

Attorney in such close proximity to the expiration of the
statutory deadline, and the fact the Town was not aware of
the dismissal until after said expiration. The Racine

County District Attorney did not inform the Town of the dismissal and the Town had no reason otherwise to know of the dismissal. The facts also support allowing the present action to continue in the interest of justice. If the Town's citations are dismissed as time-barred, the Town is essentially penalized for the Racine County District Attorney's decision to wait so long to dismiss the criminal charges. The Town is then left without any recourse due to the delay by an unrelated entity.

The facts in the case at bar also satisfy both elements of the test for equitable tolling of the statute of limitations as set forth by the United States Supreme Court in Menominee Indian Tribe v. United States. The elements of the test require that the Town pursued its rights diligently and also that there were extraordinary circumstances that prevented the Town from timely issuing its citations. The Town did, in fact, pursue its rights diligently. The Town issued the original citations that led to the criminal charges shortly after the incident occurred. Further, as soon as the Town learned that the criminal charges were dismissed by the Racine County District Attorney, the Town promptly issued its municipal citations. As mentioned above, the Town deferred issuing its own municipal citations due to the pending criminal

charges stemming from the same incident. The Racine County District Attorney did not dismiss the criminal charges until only eleven days prior to the expiration of the statutory deadline. The Racine County District Attorney failed to inform the Town of the dismissal, and the Town did not learn of the dismissal until months later and after the expiration of the statute of limitations. Certainly this set of facts is extraordinary as the Town could not be expected to act on something on which it had no knowledge.

The Appellant argues that the Town fails to meet the requirements set forth in the above test as the circumstances were entirely within the Town's control. The Appellant argues first that the Town, by Officer Jeschke, was in control as it made a mistake of law as to whether the defendant could be charged with Causing Injury by Intoxicated Use of a Motor Vehicle. In this case, there was a traffic accident that caused an injury to a pedestrian. Officer Jeschke issued citations that led to criminal charges by the Racine County District Attorney. The Racine County District Attorney was responsible for prosecution of the criminal charges and, at this point, the Town was no longer entirely in control of the circumstances. The Racine County District Attorney's discovery that the injuries to the pedestrian did not seem

to rise to the requisite level to prove the case, as well as the subsequent dismissal of the criminal charges, were both factors outside the Town's control. Once the Town learned of the dismissal, and the matter was back within the Town's control, the Town issued its municipal citations.

The Appellant also argues that the Town could have maintained control throughout the two-year statutory time period in two ways. First, the Town could have issued its own municipal citations concurrently with the criminal charges for the same incident. Second, the Town could have monitored the status of the criminal charges electronically through the Wisconsin Circuit Court Access website (hereinafter "CCAP").

As mentioned above, it is common practice for a municipality to defer issuing its own municipal citations when there are pending criminal charges arising from the exact same incident. To require a municipality to issue its own municipal citations in order to potentially preserve its rights down the road in an extraordinarily rare situation such as this, is extremely duplicative and inefficient. Municipalities, with limited budgets and resources, would be required to greatly increase their caseload to preserve rights in the event criminal charges

are dismissed elsewhere in the eleventh hour prior to the expiration of the statute of limitations. If municipalities took to this practice, defendants would then be forced to defend multiple, and essentially the same or similar, charges, all arising from the same incident, in multiple locations. This becomes burdensome to defendants, municipalities, as well as to the various court systems.

Along the same lines, requiring that a municipality monitor the status of criminal charges on CCAP for incidents they may be able to issue municipal citations is unnecessarily burdensome. While it is true that CCAP can provide an easy and convenient way to monitor cases, that ease and convenience depends on the volume of cases to be monitored. It is inevitable, especially over any sizable length of time, that a municipality will have a very large number of incidents that result in criminal charges for which the municipality could also issue municipal citations. Again, given the limited budget and resources of municipalities, it is not practical or feasible to require such monitoring. If the Town's citations are dismissed as time-barred, the end result is that, moving forward, the Town, and municipalities in general, would be forced to choose from one of the overly burdensome options above.

CONCLUSION

For the reasons outlined above, the Respondent respectfully asks that the Court of Appeals affirm the decision of the lower court that the statute of limitations was equitably tolled for the issuance of the Town of Waterford's municipal citations.